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Top 16 Rule 1:28 Decisions (2008- June 30, 2014)
Not all Appeals Court panel decisions have legal significance beyond the case at hand.  Most unpublished child welfare decisions cases have little to offer.  But some offer quite a bit, and should be cited by trial attorneys and appellate attorneys whenever relevant.  While most Rule 1:28 decisions affirm a trial court judgment, some are reversals.  We have divided our Top 16 list into the best Rule 1:28 decisions for appellants and the best Rule 1:28 decisions for appellees (and one on evidence thrown in for good measure at the end).  

Remember, if you cite to a Rule 1:28 decision in your brief or motion, you must:

(a) attach a copy of the decision as an addendum; and 

(b) cite the page of the Appeals Court reporter that lists the decision and a notation that the decision was issued pursuant to Rule 1:28.  In your brief or motion, you do not need to cite the docket number, month or day.  For example:  Care and Protection of Priscilla, 79 Mass. App. Ct. 1101 (2011) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28).  Please note that we’re using the docket numbers and dates of issuance below just to make it easier for you to find the decisions online.

Please note that the Massachusetts Courts website has changed.  Rule 1:28 decisions are now available on the web at: https://www.lexisnexis.com/clients/macourts/.  (Check off that you agree to the terms of usage, and click on “Begin Searching Opinions,” then select “Search by Party Name” (on the left border), then select “Appeals Court Unpublished Decisions.” To find child welfare Rule 1:28 decisions, type in the first “party” box “adoption or care or custody or guardianship.”  Unfortunately, the free Lexis search engine limits you to the most recent 25 cases. To find a specific case, enter the case name.  

Best Rule 1:28 Decisions for Appellants
1. Adoption of Jerrold, 74Mass. App. Ct. 1121 (2009) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 08-P-867 (June 29, 2009).  This is a great case – the best child welfare Rule 1:28 decision, in my opinion – and it is unfortunate that it is unpublished.  It has been cited (and attached to) dozens of briefs in the past five years, and it should be cited liberally going forward.  

In Jerrold, the panel vacated the termination decrees as to both parents because the judge did not make an even-handed assessment of the evidence.  According to the panel, “the evidence does not appear to have been treated fairly and difficult facts do not appear to have been fairly considered. It is clear that close attention has not been paid to the evidence.”  The panel found it particularly disturbing that the judge credited aspects of the testimony of the parents’ experts that showed the parents in a poor light but discredited the same experts’ testimony that spoke well of the parents:
From the outset, it is troubling that the testimony of the mother’s and father’s witnesses are consistently credited by the judge when their testimony is negative in regard to the parents and consistently discredited when their testimony is positive. This pattern was applied to [three of the parent’s experts].

The judge determined that [the psychologist’s] inability, or failure, to access medical records and collaterals impacted negatively on the credibility of her assessments of the mother.  However, notwithstanding these assessments of the psychologists’s [sic] credibility, the judge finds her opinions regarding the mother’s trauma history and mental health issues to be credible, but only 'to the extent that they [reflect negatively on mother’s ability to parent].’  Similarly, [her] testimony is credited when she opines that the mother has failed to adequately address substance abuse treatment and trauma issues.  Her testimony is again credited when she testified that the mother has not followed the recommendation that her treatment must include a psychiatrist to prescribe and monitor her medications. These findings of credibility, however, are immediately preceded by the contradictory finding that [the psychologist] is incapable of making a ‘complete assessment of [the] [m]other’s significant mental impediments and substance abuse issues.’ (citations to findings omitted).
The panel noted that the trial judge discredited the psychologist’s favorable opinions in part because she failed to consider the parents’ domestic violence history.  “The problem,” however, according to the panel, “is that there is virtually no evidence of domestic violence in the record before us.”  The judge treated an experienced substance abuse counselor similarly:  “The judge again credits her negative observations concerning the mother, such as the mother’s not having dealt with her mental health issues. . . .  However, the judge discredited [her] testimony that the mother is successfully dealing with her substance abuse issues.”
The panel cited Adoption of Stuart, 39 Mass. App. Ct. 380, 382 (1995), for the proposition that judges cannot ignore “troublesome facts.”  The judge here did just that:
Conclusions of law 6, 8, 13, and 14 are based on the judge’s determination that the mother was inconsistent in her substance abuse treatment, but this conclusion was only possible because the judge discredited the testimony of every professional involved in the assessment or treatment of the mother.  Conclusion of law 13 states that the mother is at a high risk for relapse. There is no expert testimony in the record however to support this conclusion.  In fact, all the expert testimony that the judge discredited supported the opposite conclusion. Other findings and conclusions suffer from a similar lack of record support, misrepresentation, or wholesale disregard for evidence favorable to the mother or father.
Perhaps the most interesting aspect of Jerrold is the suggestion (I’m not sure it rises to the level of a holding) that the case merited remand based in part on DCF’s failure to provide reasonable efforts to reunify the family.  The panel starts by criticizing DCF for filing a notice of intent to terminate parental rights while continuing to generate service plans with a goal of maintaining an intact family.
The service plans themselves put burdens on the family while offering little or no assistance to achieve that goal.  . . .  When, for example, the father became sober after a lengthy inpatient detoxification and treatment and was in compliance with his service plan, the department offered no assistance to the father nor attempted to keep the family intact.  The department offered no help in assisting the father to understand his son’s special needs, yet the judge held this lack of understanding against the father.  . . . .

A significant number of the judge’s conclusions of law are predicated on issues, such as homelessness, that the department could have assisted with, but did not, or on the implications of findings that are themselves erroneous, such as the finding concerning domestic violence.
Even if the panel did not remand specifically because of DCF’s lack of reasonable efforts, trial counsel may find this language extremely helpful in any “abuse of discretion” or other motion seeking reunification services.  It may also be helpful in pushing DCF – informally, when addressing service plan tasks with social workers, or formally, either at a foster care review or in court – to educate a parent about the child’s special needs.
The panel remanded to a different judge (suggesting that the panel doubted the judge’s ability or willingness to treat the parties or evidence fairly on remand).  
Jerrold is a great case to cite if the trial judge in your case has “selectively” credited expert testimony in a particular direction.  It is also helpful if the judge has discredited a favorable expert based on the expert’s failure to consider an “important” fact when there is little or no evidence of that fact.  Finally, it is useful to cite, along with Care and Protection of Elaine, 54 Mass. App. Ct. 266 (2002), in any “reasonable efforts” argument.
For a similar (and also great) case, where the judge selectively credited only the bad stuff and the panel reversed and remanded to a different judge, see Adoption of Chase (No. 1), 74 Mass. App. Ct. 1112 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 08-P-246 (May 22, 2009).  
2. Adoption of Zaria, 79 Mass. App. Ct. 1114 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2010-P-1148 (April 29, 2011).  I have not yet seen a child welfare decision, published or unpublished, where a panel explicitly slams a trial judge for being biased.  But Zaria comes mighty close, and it’s a wonderful case (perhaps even better in this regard than Adoption of Jerrold, 74 Mass. App. Ct. 1121 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2008-P-0867 (June 29, 2009)).  

In Zaria, the child appealed the judge’s decision approving DCF’s adoption plan (adoption by pre-adoptive parents who had previously adopted the child’s half-sibling) rather than the child’s plan (guardianship by her long-term foster mother). The panel determined that the trial judge both abused his discretion and committed an error of law in determining that the DCF plan was in the child’s best interests, vacated the decision, and remanded to a different judge.

The panel was particularly disturbed by the trial judge’s findings regarding the testimony of the court investigator.  The judge qualified her as an expert in bonding but then vituperatively discredited virtually all of her testimony.  Judges are, of course, free to credit or discredit lay or expert testimony.  But the judge in Zaria took it too far:

The fact that the judge did not believe [the investigator] was manifest throughout his findings, but his findings border on a dislike that went beyond merely an appropriate determination of credibility and resulted, inappropriately, in the judge making extensive findings concerning [the investigator] both personally and professionally. This time and energy would have been better spent in findings directed to determining the child’s best interests.

The judge was unfair to the investigator in other ways.  DCF moved the child from her long-term foster home to its pre-adoptive family four days before trial. The judge faulted the investigator and discredited her report because she failed to interview the new family and observe the child in the new home. But the investigator was never given the opportunity to do so, because DCF refused to allow her access to the new home and pre-adoptive parents, and the judge (despite child’s counsel’s request) would not order DCF to give her such access.

The trial judge appeared to give dispositive weight to Zaria’s placement with her half-brother, a child she had never met until four days before trial. The panel held that, while a sibling relationship is an important factor in determining the best interests of a child, it cannot be given dispositive weight. See Adoption of Hugo, 428 Mass. 219, 230-231 (1998) (even where siblings spent time together and expressed a desire to live together, sibling relationship is not dispositive).  Giving it dispositive weight was an error of law.

The panel also called out DCF for its heavy-handed attempts to influence the judge’s choice of placement, moving Zaria just four days before trial with an “unusually short transition period” consisting of just a few visits and no overnight visits. According to the panel, 

[this] process…illustrated the potential abuse of DCF’s enormous inherent power to manipulate the evidence to achieve its own determinations and goals…. There was no clinical evaluation or an evaluation of any kind by DCF regarding the possibility of a bond between the child and [her former foster mother] or any harm the move could impose….  No visitation was allowed, an internal appeal was denied, and DCF prohibited the child’s representative from evaluating her while in the [new pre-adoptive parents’] custody.  [Citations omitted]

The panel went on to criticize the judge for relying exclusively on the “uncorroborated and self-serving testimony” of the pre-adoptive mother to find that the child was thriving in her custody after only a couple of weeks.  This was particularly egregious because the judge, at the same time, discredited the testimony of the court investigator regarding the strong bond between the child and her former foster mother.  The judge’s weighing of testimony was therefore an abuse of discretion.  What the panel had left of the judge’s decision – favoring placement with a half-sibling above all else – was an error of law.  The panel vacated the trial judge’s decision and remanded the case to a different judge. 

This case is very helpful for counsel opposing a placement that occurs on the eve of trial with minimal transition.  It is also helpful to counsel if the trial judge has refused to credit testimony from an investigator, GAL or expert who has sought, but been denied, access to information bearing on the child’s best interests.  Finally, it gives ammunition to a request for remand to a different judge in a case where the trial judge appears to have been systematically biased in a particular party’s favor.

3. Adoption of Adina, 73 Mass. App. Ct. 1123 (2009) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 08-P-1376 (Feb. 23, 2009).  Adina is one of the most egregious examples of a judge playing fast and loose with parents’ due process rights that I have ever seen (see also Titus, below), and the Appeals Court caught it.

In Adina, the Juvenile Court judge granted mother a continuance of trial in order to work out a settlement.  The judge excused the mother and her counsel and held a termination trial as to the father alone.  Some of the evidence entered in the father’s termination case concerned mother as well.  When mother’s settlement negotiations fell through, she requested a trial.  In response, the judge stated:  “Well, I'm finding unfitness of [the] mother based on the testimony I received as to [the] father, anyhow.  [The mother] can have a trial on termination of parental rights.”  Later, at the termination trial, the judge admitted the evidence taken in father’s trial (from which mother and her counsel were absent) against the mother.
The panel found this trial by sleight of hand “troubling” in two respects:
First, the statement gives rise to a presumption that the judge had reached a settled conclusion as to the mother's fitness before competent evidence bearing on that issue was introduced. The risk of prejudice to the mother is evident, since the critical inquiry in a termination action is whether a parent's unfitness has been established by clear and convincing evidence. Adoption of Gillian, 63 Mass. App. Ct. 398, 404 (2005). Second, the statement almost compels an inference that the judge based her apparent conclusion upon testimony that was (a) offered without an opportunity for the mother to make seasonable objections; (b) admitted in a proceeding in which the mother had neither standing nor direct incentive to litigate; and (c) presented in the absence of counsel for the mother and, therefore, insufficiently susceptible to effective rebuttal.
The panel determined that there was prejudice to mother because the judge found her unfit based on evidence admitted only against the father at his earlier trial.  The panel did not just remand.  In (what I take to be) a clear message to the trial judge, the panel remanded to a different trial judge:  

For these reasons, retrial of the petition as to the mother is necessary, and the interests of justice require the substitution of a judge unfamiliar with the evidence presented at the father's trial. See Commonwealth v. Henriquez, 440 Mass. 1015, 1016-1017 (2003) (remand to different judge appropriate to 'restore the appearance of justice' by eliminating concern about the consideration of matters not in evidence).
Adina is a wonderful case to cite if the trial judge (a) relies on evidence in support of an unfitness finding against a parent when that evidence was admitted only against the other parent, (b) admits evidence against a parent at the other parent’s trial or when the parent and his/her counsel did not know there was a trial, or (c) admits evidence against a parent when that parent’s counsel is, for whatever reason, not present.  Further, if you are alleging egregious errors below (such as bias, prejudgment or prejudice), and you have serious doubts as to your client’s chances of a fair trial before the same judge, Adina supports an argument that the remand should be before a different judge.  
4. Adoption of Titus, 73Mass. App. Ct. 1128 (2009) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 08-P-1640 (March 20, 2009).  Here, the judge terminated the parents’ rights without a trial.  The parents thought the trial was at 11:00, but the judge called the case at 9:00.  When the parents and child’s counsel did not show up, the judge terminated parental rights without allowing any party to present evidence or examine witnesses.  Further, the judge announced that, even if the parents had showed up, it would not have made any difference.

The panel was not amused (and I have never seen a result more telegraphed at oral argument).  It noted that a termination trial must be more than a “mere gesture,” and due process must actually mean something.  The panel did not just remand; it remanded to a different judge.  The judge’s statements suggested the parents could not get a fair trial, and all parties are entitled to “both the assurance and appearance of a wholly impartial forum.”  (citing Graizzaro v. Graizzaro, 36 Mass. App. Ct. 911, 912 (1994)).  

Titus is a good case to cite if the judge starts a trial too early, or if parents do not show and there is any confusion as to the proper time for trial.  Titus might also be useful if the judge makes statements suggesting that an absent parent’s testimony would not make a difference in the decision. 
5. Adoption of Ulon, 75 Mass. App. Ct. 1103 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 09-P-1112 (September 10, 2009).  Ulon may be a one-paragraph Rule 1:28 decision, but it is noteworthy for two reasons.  First, in a footnote, the panel explains that, even though the parties may agree there was error below, the panel judges must “review the matter and satisfy [themselves] that an error occurred.”  Accordingly, in those rare circumstances where the Department agrees that remand is a foregone conclusion and briefing and/or argument are unnecessary, the parties cannot simply “drop” a docketed appeal.  Rather, they must present an agreed-to motion to dismiss or a stipulation for dismissal to the panel and allow it to decide the issue.  

Second, and more significantly, Ulon makes Commonwealth v. Means, 454 Mass. 81 (2009), applicable to child welfare cases.   In Means, the defendant sent a letter to his attorney, threatening to harm him and his family.  The attorney withdrew.  The defendant asked for a new attorney, but the trial court refused, ruling that, by his egregious conduct, the defendant forfeited the right to counsel and would have to proceed pro se.  The defendant was convicted of various crimes and appealed.  The SJC reversed and remanded based on the improper denial of counsel.

According to the SJC, there are three ways a defendant can waive the right to counsel:  express waiver, waiver by conduct, and forfeiture.  Id. at 89.  An express waiver “must be voluntary” and involve “an informed and intentional relinquishment of a known right.”  The judge must make a careful inquiry on the record.  There can be no waiver by “silence.”  Id. at 89-90.  “Waiver by conduct” occurs when a defendant moves to remove his attorney without good cause, the motion is denied, and the judge warns the defendant that he will lose his right to an attorney if he engages in “dilatory or abusive conduct” toward the lawyer.  If he then engages in the very misconduct he was warned not to commit, the misconduct may be treated “as an implied request to proceed pro se and, thus, as a waiver of the right to counsel.”  The “dilatory or abusive conduct” by the defendant need not be violent, but it must be “highly disruptive of orderly or safe court proceedings.”   Most importantly, there can be no waiver by conduct unless the trial judge has given the defendant an express warning about the consequences of his actions and the consequences of proceeding without counsel.  Id. at 91-92.  Finally, “forfeiture of counsel” is “an extreme sanction in response to extreme conduct that imperils the integrity or safety of court proceedings.”  The sanction recognizes that some misconduct is “so serious that it may justify the loss of [a defendant’s] right to counsel even if he was not warned that his misconduct may have that consequence.”  Id. at 92.  Threats or acts of violence against counsel or others may, noted the SJC, justify invoking the doctrine of forfeiture of counsel.  Id. at 93.  But it should be invoked only as “a last resort in response to the most grave and deliberate misconduct.”  Id. at 95.

In Means, the defendant did not expressly waive his right to counsel, and he could not have waived counsel by his conduct because the judge had not expressly warned him of the consequences of that conduct.  The only inquiry was whether the defendant’s threats made in the letter justified forfeiture of counsel.  The SJC did not address this directly, and instead reversed and remanded (to a different judge) based on the procedural inadequacy of the judge’s hearing on the forfeiture.  Because the sanction is so severe, the judge should have held an evidentiary hearing to determine the totality of the circumstances of the threats, the defendant’s capacity to proceed pro se, and other issues bearing on the appropriateness of the sanction.  Here, it was unclear whether the judge’s decision would have been the same had he held an appropriate evidentiary hearing on the forfeiture, and remand was therefore necessary.  Id. at 97-100.

In Ulon, the mother had four attorneys, all of whom withdrew based on a “breakdown of communications.”  The judge refused to appoint her a new attorney and required her to proceed to trial pro se.  The Department and child conceded prior to argument that this failed to satisfy the Means test for forfeiture of counsel.  The panel agreed and remanded for a new trial.

6. Adoption of Loughlin, 74Mass. App. Ct. 1128 (2009) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 09-P-347 (August 6, 2009).  In Loughlin the panel vacated a termination because the findings were not supported by the evidence and failed to satisfy the requirements of c. 210, § 3.  The trial court terminated mother’s rights primarily based on her history of drug use and the strong bond between the child and the pre-adoptive parents (the child had lived with them for 27 months of his 34-month life).  However, the panel held that there was no evidence to support the judge’s conclusion that the mother was likely to continue to abuse drugs “for a prolonged indeterminate period”:  
[T]he judge stated that the mother’s substance abuse issues had not been remedied despite her participation in a variety of services.  Although the judge was entitled, as he did, not to credit the mother’s testimony that she had not relapsed prior to [selling drugs, leading to her incarceration], there was no affirmative evidence of drug use subsequent to the birth of the child.  Indeed, the judge did not make a finding that the mother had relapsed prior to her incarceration but, rather, “seriously question[ed] Mother’s sobriety when she was actively selling the drugs that she previously abused.” 
The judge may have “seriously questioned” the mother’s sobriety, but judicial doubts are not the same as evidence, and here the evidence was lacking.  Absent supported findings of substance abuse, all that remained to support the unfitness conclusion was the child’s bond to the pre-adoptive parents.  The judge found that the child had a strong bond to the pre-adoptive parents and that the child would be harmed by removing him from them.  But the panel held that this was not enough:
[W]e have required specific findings where severance of the bonds with a substitute caretaker becomes a decisive factor in a determination of parental fitness.  This reflects in part the serious constitutional concerns involved in the termination of parental rights. See Adoption of Katharine, 42 Mass. App. Ct. at 27.  Consequently, we have held that ‘[t]o the extent that traumatic severance of bonds with a substitute caretaker became a decisive factor, a judge would be bound in findings [1] to describe the nature of the bonds formed, [2] why serious psychological harm would flow from the severance of those bonds, [3] what means to alleviate that harm had been considered, and [4] why those means were determined to be inadequate.’ Id. at 30-31.

In this case, the judge made the first two findings described in the language quoted in the text.  But, the judge did not explore or make findings about what means to alleviate the harm were considered and why those means were inadequate.  While we are not in a position to suggest in a comprehensive way what evidence will be required to make the findings required by Adoption of Katharine, ibid., we do not believe adequate findings can be made without an assessment of the bond between the mother and the child.
The department’s bonding evaluation had looked at the bond between the child and pre-adoptive parents, but not at the child’s attachment to his birth mother.  Further, there was testimony from the department’s expert that it is “always desirable” “to see both bio-parents and foster parents to help [him] make a better judgment of where a child ought to be.” Significantly, earlier in the case the mother had moved for her own bonding evaluation, which the trial court denied.  Perhaps signaling the apparent unfairness of this denial, the panel held that, on remand, “the judge should order such [a parent-child bonding] assessment in order to assist him in making his findings.”  (Note:  This is a good case to attach to a motion for reconsideration if the trial judge denies your motion for funds for your own evaluation to counter an adverse department evaluation.) 

The panel vacated the termination and remanded, specifying that a mother-child bonding assessment and more specific findings about bonding “are required.”  The panel also suggested (but did not require) that the parties could submit to the trial court additional evidence regarding parental fitness that had arisen post-trial.
Although the panel did not base its decision on visitation issues, it suggested that monthly visits with incarcerated parents is insufficient:  “Despite departmental regulations designed to encourage the maintenance of bonds between children and their incarcerated parents, see 110 Code Mass. Regs. § 1.10 (2000), once the department changed its goal to adoption, it allowed the mother only one hour per month of visitation with the child.”  This is not a ringing endorsement for change, but trial counsel might cite Loughlin in an “abuse of discretion” motion to show that the Appeals Court suggested that the current once-per-month policy is contrary to the department’s own regulations.
7. Adoption of Liam, 80 Mass. App. Ct. 1101 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2011-P-178 (July 28, 2011).  Just because a parent is unfit does not mean that a child’s best interests are served by termination.  The problem with that principle has always been finding good cases to illustrate it.  Liam is such a case.  It is also a helpful case if parent and child both seek reunification and the parent has made late progress in getting his or her act together.

In Liam, the mother and child appealed the termination of mother’s parental rights and the denial of their joint motion to vacate the decree.  They argued that while mother could not be reunited with the child at the time of trial, termination was not in the child’s best interests and was premature.  They further argued that the judge erred in denying the motion to vacate without a hearing given the mother’s changed post-trial circumstances. 
The panel affirmed the trial judge’s decision that the mother was unfit at the time of trial.  But it reversed the denial of the motion to vacate, vacated the termination decree, and remanded the matter for further proceedings to determine whether termination remained in the child’s best interests.  The panel cited several “unusual circumstances” that led to this “rare” disposition: (1) this was not a case of “continuous unceasing unfitness” by mother, but rather one where the mother had shown herself unable to sustain long-term stability; (2) the mother and child shared a significant emotional relationship, and continued contact and visitation by the mother was found to be in the child’s best interests; (3) the child was placed with his maternal aunt who, although willing to adopt, had given no indication that adoption or termination was a matter of urgency; (4) there was no evidence that returning the child to the mother would be disruptive to him or that the parties would not work together to effectuate a smooth transition; and (5) the evidence of post-termination changes in the mother’s circumstances included affidavits from “neutral” persons (an employer and a social worker). 
While these circumstances may be “unusual,” they aren’t rare. Liam is helpful if several of these factors are present in your case and there is evidence that the parent can currently parent the child. 
Note that the panel, on its own initiative, asked the parties for memoranda “on the procedural issues connected with obtaining factual information concerning Liam’s current best interests and the mother’s fitness.”  In other words, the panel wanted current information not in the appellate record.  DCF failed to provide it, and the panel noted this failure.  Liam, at n. 3.  The take-away for attorneys?  If the panel wants it, provide it.  But don’t offer information outside the record at oral argument unless so requested.

8. Adoption of Serafina, 80 Mass. App. Ct. 1114 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2011-P-249, (November 10, 2011).  In Serafina, the panel vacated the termination decree and remanded to the trial court. The trial judge placed great weight on the fact that it took sixteen months for the putative father to establish paternity. Although the DCF attorney, shortly before trial, told the judge that the delay wasn’t the father’s fault, the judge blamed him anyway and heavily cited father’s “lack of interest in his paternity” in several conclusions of law.

The panel agreed with the father that many of the paternity-related findings were clearly erroneous.  Much of the delay wasn’t the father’s fault:  he was not appointed counsel for almost a full year after the child’s birth; his court-appointed attorney failed to order genetic testing due to vacation, illness, or the mistaken belief that it had already been ordered; the DCF attorney failed to schedule the testing due to vacation; and the department misplaced relevant documents for three months.  The panel noted that “[i]t is incumbent on the courts no less than the department to ensure that neither children nor parents are penalized for the defective operation of a system into which they have been drawn involuntarily.”  What a great quote!
The trial judge also based the termination on father’s employment circumstances: “Father’s main focus, instead of being on [the child] and working toward reunification, has been, and continues to be, on his job.”  The court blamed father for working long hours.  The panel acknowledged the catch-22 parents face in these cases: a parent is unfit if he doesn’t work hard enough to provide financial security for a child, and he’s unfit if he works too hard seeking financial security.  (And, of course, if he works hard enough to provide financial security, DCF may move to strike his counsel.).  The panel held that the father’s work circumstances did not qualify as clear and convincing evidence of unfitness.
Finally, the trial judge based the termination on the child’s bonding with pre-adoptive parents.  But after trial, a 51A report was filed on the pre-adoptive parents and the placement disrupted.  While that information wasn’t before the trial court or part of the appellate record prior to argument (See “Post-trial Information and Oral Argument,” below), the panel was receptive to father’s request to enlarge the record to include information about the problems and disruption.  The panel was clearly displeased (at argument as well) with the position taken by DCF and the appellee-child about enlarging the record:  “Both the department and the child’s counsel objected to enlargement of the record.  We fail to see how this posture advances the best interests of the child.”  Serafina, at n. 5.  Of course, “this posture” was solid appellate practice – why agree to enlarge the record this late in the game and allow the panel to consider a potentially dispositive fact? – but it felt like a game of “hide the (best interests) ball” to the panel.  That’s never a good impression to make.
The panel vacated the termination decree and remanded for further proceedings.

9. Adoption of Lin, 81 Mass. App. Ct. 1128 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2011-P-1084 (April 12, 2012).  The trial court approved plans specifying that two brothers would be adopted by different families.  The plans did not address sibling visitation, and the court’s findings did not address why the boys couldn’t be placed together.  The panel remanded to the trial court for further findings on the issues of sibling visitation and the possibility of joint placement.  According to the panel, G.L. c. 119, § 26B(b) required findings on these issues.  This is fascinating, because we usually think of § 26B(b) only as the “sibling visitation” statute.  But the statute requires that the court “ensure that children placed in foster care shall have access to and visitation with siblings . . . .”  (Emphasis added).  We had assumed “access to” meant phone calls and letters, but the panel in Lin (based on a clever argument by child’s counsel) interpreted it to mean “placement.”  And the trial court’s failure to explain how joint or separate placement of the boys served their best interests required remand.  
Lin does not break new ground, but it serves as a reminder of the important proposition that the sibling relationship is important in the termination/best-interests/plan-selection process, not just in the context of sibling visitation.  Lin cites Care and Protection of Three Minors:

The judge’s findings in this case are deficient in that he failed to address two issues: the importance of the sibling relationship, and whether placement of all three children with the paternal grandparents would be in the best interests of the children.  The courts of this Commonwealth have recognized the importance of siblings being raised together.  Freeman v. Chaplic, 388 Mass. 398, 407-408 (1983). Duclos v. Edwards, 344 Mass. 544, 546 (1962). Care & Protection of Two Minors, 12 Mass. App. Ct. 867, 868 (1981). These sisters have spent time together and have often expressed the desire to live together as a family.

While those two factors would not be dispositive, they highlight the fact that the sibling relationship, particularly, is an issue which the judge should have considered.
392 Mass. 704, 715 (1984) (footnote omitted).  Lin and Three Minors are helpful cases if you represent a child who is aggrieved by placement apart from a sibling and the court fails to make specific findings explaining why joint placement doesn’t serve their best interests. 
10. Adoption of Andreas, 78 Mass. App. Ct. 1119 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2010-P-0817 (Jan. 11, 2011).  Andreas is a great case to support the proposition that a parent must be unfit with respect to each subject child.  The trial court found mother unfit and terminated her rights as to Andreas, Edward and Lionel. The panel affirmed as to the first two boys based largely on mother’s inability to meet their behavioral and psychological needs.   But with respect to Lionel, who was younger and had no special needs, the panel vacated the termination:

[W]e conclude that, taken as a whole, the judge’s subsidiary findings, even if supported by the evidence, do not support his ultimate conclusions that the mother is currently unfit to parent Lionel and that termination of her parental rights was in this child’s best interests.  Lionel was removed from the mother’s care when he was only eighteen months old and has remained in department custody since that time. He has been living with his preadoptive parents since March, 2008, and he is bonded to his preadoptive parents and has little, if any, bond with the mother.  However, Lionel does not suffer from any behavioral or emotional difficulties, and the evidence of the mother’s unfitness to parent Lionel is much weaker than it is with respect to Andreas and Edward.

The fact of Lionel’s stable placement in a pre-adoptive home was not enough to show that mother was unfit as to him:

The judge’s determination that the mother is unfit to parent Lionel appears to be based primarily on the circumstances of Lionel’s stable placement and his lack of connection to the mother.  Moreover, in concluding that the mother is currently unfit to parent Lionel, the judge failed to consider the mother’s parenting ability, or lack thereof, to parent Lionel and her other children, without the additional burden of caring for Andreas and Edward.  It is clear from the judge’s findings that the primary factor bearing on the determination of unfitness was the mother’s inability to care for the additional three children at issue, two of whom present significant challenges. 

Courts, then, must look not just to a parent’s ability to care for each child but to that parent’s ability to care for each child alone without the burden of caring for the others (assuming they are not to be returned).

The panel remanded for further findings based on the mother’s current circumstances.  Because it recognized that mother appeared to no longer have the “grievous shortcomings” necessary to be found unfit, it signaled to the parties and the trial court that the evidence on remand should focus on bonding as set forth in G.L. c. 210, § 3(c)(vii), that is,

the nature of the bond between Lionel and his substitute caretakers, if serious psychological harm would flow from the severance of those bonds, what means were considered to alleviate that harm, and which of those means would be adequate. . . . Finally, the mother's capacity, or lack thereof, to meet Lionel's needs upon removal from his caretakers should be addressed.

The panel also remanded regarding post-termination and post-adoption visitation between mother and Andreas, which the trial court declined to order.  While there was no evidence of a bond or other compelling interest suggesting visits between mother and Edward, 

. . . Andreas appears to have a stronger bond to the mother than the other two children, having spent the first five years of his life in her care.  Although the evidence indicates that the mother is unable to provide the structured environment that Andreas requires from a full-time care-giver, the evidence does not support the conclusion that the termination of visitation is in his best interests.  In contrast to the evidence that visitation was traumatic for Edward, Andreas seemed to suffer most as a result of the termination of contact with the mother (he required hospitalization in the month following removal), and he has expressed his desire for visitation to continue.  Considering, also, that the department has been unable to place Andreas with a preadoptive family, the judge’s denial of visitation was an abuse of his discretion.

Andreas is therefore a good case to cite when the judge refuses to order post-termination visitation for a child who is not in a pre-adoptive home and wishes to visit with a birth parent.

This decision also has a very interesting footnote.  Footnote 4 states:  “We agree with the father’s argument that the judge’s reliance on the father’s immigration detention to conclude that he had abandoned the children was misplaced. Deportation has not been deemed grounds for the termination of parental rights nor does deportation constitute abandonment.”  This is certainly something to cite if the trial court relied heavily on your parent-client’s immigration/detention status.
11. (Tie)  Adoption of Parnell, 75 Mass. App. Ct. 1111 (2009) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 09-P-992 (November 6, 2009), and Adoption of Samir, 78 Mass. App. Ct. 1104 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2010-P-0349 (Oct. 20, 2010).  Both of these cases are great for any argument regarding post-adoption visitation with grandparents and, perhaps, other relatives with an important bond with the child.
In Parnell, the children had a bond with the grandmother, but the court did not issue a specific visitation order.

[W]e find that the judge’s failure to issue a visitation order for the maternal grandmother was also error.  Though the trial judge found that a significant bond had formed between the maternal grandmother and the children, he merely “suggest[ed]” that the department aid the adoptive parents in establishing guidelines for monthly contact.  We find such action to be insufficient.  To the contrary, as indicated above, a finding that visitation with a grandparent is in the best interests of the child must be accompanied by an explicit order from the judge setting forth the specific parameters of that visitation.
	The department argued that there was no statutory basis for such visitation.  The panel found this “unconvincing”:  

Though G.L. c. 119, § 26(B)(a) expressly creates a right to visitation for grandparents while a child is in foster care, the absence of statutory language governing postadoption visitation does not preclude such visitation. This determination is the province of the trial judge, and is to be determined by the best interests of the child.
	 


This, I believe, really opens the door to post-adoption visitation orders for relatives who are important to the child.
In a footnote, the panel reminds us that children who are approaching the age of 12 can block an adoption.  If those children condition their approval of an adoption on post-adoption visits with birth family, courts should pay attention.  
Th[e failure of the parties to agree to post-adoption contact] is additionally troubling because Parnell is about to mark his twelfth birthday and will then be able to object to his adoption. G. L. c. 210, § 2.  Counsel represented at oral argument that Parnell’s position on the adoption is dependant on regular contact with his mother and grandmother.
The panel remanded the case for specific post-termination and post-adoption visitation orders with mother and grandmother.
Similarly, in Samir, the trial judge failed to order post-adoption visitation with a grandmother who shared a significant bond with the child.  Both mother and child argued on appeal that this was error.  The department opposed a visitation order (your tax dollars hard at work) even though it conceded at oral argument that visitation between the child and his grandmother had been taking place post-trial.  The panel sent it back:
The judge, having found ‘a significant bond’ between the child and the grandmother, has the discretion to consider, in the best interests of the child, whether some form of contact is appropriate, and if so, the conditions, nature, scope, and frequency of any such contact. In light of this, that portion of the decree pertaining to visitation between the child and the grandmother is vacated and remanded for further proceedings.

This case is further support for the court’s power (indeed, its obligation) to order post-termination and/or post-adoption visitation between a child and any family member with whom the child shares a significant bond. 
An important caveat, however:  both of these cases pre-date Adoption of Ilona, 459 Mass. 53 (2011).  Ilona requires the trial court to determine, before ordering post-adoption contact with a birth parent, (a) whether contact serves the child’s best interests, and (b) whether such an order is necessary.  Such an order might not be necessary if the pre-adoptive parents are committed to preserving the relationship even without an order.  Ilona likely applies to the context of post-adoption visitation with grandparents and other family members.
Best Rule 1:28 Decisions for Appellees
Let’s admit the obvious from the get-go.  The vast majority of Rule 1:28 decisions are affirmances, and all are “good” for appellees.  But there are so many published child welfare decisions that are good for appellees that few Rule 1:28 decisions are necessary.  But these are helpful nevertheless.

12. Care and Protection of Oliana, 72 Mass. App. Ct. 1115 (2008) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 07-P-1453 (Sept. 9, 2008), drives a stake through the heart of most “staleness” arguments.  There, the panel suggests that almost nothing is stale, no matter how old, if the complained-of conduct (however defined) is ongoing:

The mother argues that the evidence on which those findings are based are [sic] too stale to be relevant to the instant petition.  However, past conduct can be relevant to the issue of current parental unfitness if demonstrated to be an ongoing pattern.  See Adoption of Diane, 400 Mass. 196, 204 (1987) ('The judge could properly rely upon prior patterns of ongoing, repeated, serious parental neglect, abuse, and misconduct in determining current unfitness'); Adoption of Mario, 43 Mass. App. Ct. 767, 773 (1997).  Those findings discuss events dating back to 1975 and detail instances of severely unclean living conditions, exposure of the children to physical abuse, and neglect, that establish a pattern of conduct that continued in the mother's parenting of Oliana and Jason.

The mother continued to keep a dirty home and was neglectful of the children in 2001. Numerous people detailed the unhygienic and unsanitary conditions of the household in 2002. The mother permitted the father to expose the children to pornographic material that same year. The mother allowed contact with the father who repeatedly threatened to kill her in front of the children. In 2004, the apartment in which the family lived was found to be without heat, and with 'broken glass and feces spread all over the kitchen floor.' Although the judge noted that the mother had made some improvements since the filing of the petition at issue here, his findings regarding the mother's pattern of conduct were not clearly erroneous.
Two things are notable about this decision.  First, the evidence the panel found not to be stale was over 30 years old.  Second, dirty home conditions apparently can satisfy the requirement of a “pattern of ongoing, repeated, serious parental neglect.” 
13. Adoption of Ilan, 73Mass. App. Ct. 1116 (2009) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 08-P-312 (Jan. 26, 2009).  In Ilan, the Department didn’t serve the father with notice of the proceeding until eight months after filing the petition.  The father alleged a due process violation – he did not get counsel in a timely fashion and he missed the early custody hearings – and the panel agreed:

We agree that the father was entitled to service much sooner than he received it. The record demonstrates that, at the time the petition was filed, the department regarded the father as Ilan's second parent and was aware of the father's address. Under these circumstances, the father should have been served around the time that service was effected upon the mother. G. L. c. 119, § 24. We acknowledge that an adjudication of paternity had not yet occurred at the time of the petition. Notwithstanding, § 24 plainly requires, in connection with service of process, that a 'reasonable search' be conducted when the whereabouts or identity of a parent is unknown. Unfortunately, that duty was not discharged by the department in this case.

In this case, however, the failure to serve the father in a timely fashion was harmless.  He had counsel about five months before trial, so he had reasonable time to mount a defense.  The father himself intentionally delayed his involvement in the case (so as not to have to pay child support), so having counsel earlier wouldn’t have made a difference.  Finally, because father was unfit by clear and convincing evidence at trial, missing the earlier hearings made no difference.

To be sure, the department's failure to serve the father before December, 2006, was a grave dereliction. While we do not condone the delay that occurred in this case, neither are we persuaded that it resulted in any material prejudice to the father. . . . Because the due process violations that occurred did not materially compromise the father's preparation for and participation in the trial as to custody, the outcome of that trial rendered moot any antecedent deficiencies.

It is reassuring that the panel considered the Department’s eight-month delay in giving notice to father a “grave dereliction” of its duties and a due process violation.  In other circumstances, where the parent without notice is more actively engaged with the child pre-petition, this language could prove helpful.  

It is distressing, however, to read the panel’s conclusion that, because the father was unfit by clear and convincing evidence at trial, his loss of an opportunity for a 72-hour hearing was meaningless.  At that earlier stage, father may have been fit; he may have had relatives who could care for the child; and the child would not have bonded to foster parents (as he had by the time of trial).  Whatever happened to Care and Protection of Orazio, 68 Mass. App. Ct. 213 (2007), which stressed the importance of the 72-hour hearing and how it should not be bypassed for trial?  Ilan suggests that, if DCF fails to give notice and violates a parent’s due process rights, it is of no consequence if the parent is ultimately found unfit.  Such a rule might be a good result for child’s counsel who is, for whatever reason, opposing a parent and supporting termination.  But it sends a bad message to DCF that its statutory and constitutional mandate to track down known parents can be violated with little risk.  

14. Adoption of Xena, 73Mass. App. Ct. 1116 (2009) (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 08-P-791 (Jan. 26, 2009), is a good case about “unfitness for failure to visit.”  The panel noted:

The record reflects, and the judge implicitly found, that the mother failed to visit the children during the six months preceding trial and that she made no visits during the pendency of the trial (thereby missing an additional two scheduled monthly visits).  The children were five years old at the time.  The judge also found that the mother could provide no adequate explanation for this prolonged absence. . . . [E]ight consecutive months of missed visitation is itself strongly suggestive of parental unfitness. . . .  [T]he judge's concern about the fitness of a parent who would allow such time to elapse without visiting her children was reasonable. Moreover, it was not just the lack of visitation itself that concerned the judge.  The mother frequently neglected to inform the department when she would not be visiting the children as scheduled.

The panel was aware that the mother had some colorable reasons for failing to visit the children, but was unimpressed by them.

Xena is also interesting because it suggests that a parent’s failure /refusal to provide DCF releases is a factor in the unfitness determination.  The panel noted ample support for the finding that 

the mother failed substantially to provide unconditional release forms necessary for the department to coordinate its efforts with and obtain critical information from certain of the mother's service providers.  The judge reasonably concluded that this failure impeded the department's ability to assess the mother's fitness and, to the extent it prolonged their tumultuous foster care experience, harmed the children. 

This is quite a bold conclusion:  the mother’s refusal to sign releases harmed the children by extending their time in care.  Still, bold or not, counsel for a child seeking termination might wish to cite Xena for the proposition that a parent is free to refuse to sign releases, but that refusal may be used against him.  (Perhaps this is not surprising in light of the fact that courts can draw an adverse inference from a parent’s refusal to testify.  If courts can do that, they should be able to draw an adverse inference – although Xena does not use that term – from a parent’s refusal to cooperate with DCF.  I am not aware of any published case that addresses this point as clearly as Xena does.)  Note:  Adoption of Neil, 84 Mass. App. Ct. 1107 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), No. 12-P-1739 (August 14, 2013), is also a good case for appellees on the subject of a parent’s unfitness for failure to give DCF releases.  
Finally, Xena also addresses the frustration attorneys feel when DCF fails to provide them with the file, or a complete file, in a timely fashion.  However, the panel noted that, in this case, “no prejudice inured to the mother from these regrettable practices because none of the evidence sought would have refuted the bases upon which the judge found unfitness in this case.”  Accordingly, if you are raising as an appellate issue DCF’s failure to provide the file (or a specific portion of the file), you must show how the information sought would have made a difference in the case.
15. Adoption of Alexandra, 83 Mass. App. Ct. 1101 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2012-P-0601 (December 7, 2012).  In this case, the father stipulated to the termination of his parental rights.  On appeal, he argued that the stipulation wasn’t knowing and voluntary because he didn’t understand it.  Earlier in the proceedings, the trial court found the father to be incompetent to assist his attorney and appointed him a guardian ad litem.  During the father’s colloquy, the judge asked him if he had had the chance to discuss the stipulation with his lawyers.  The father answered “no.”  The panel noted that the father “possibly misunderst[oo]d the thrust” of the [question.]”  The trial judge, according to the panel, should have clarified the father’s response; if the answer remained “no,” he should have given the father a chance to review it with counsel.  (Trial counsel should also have insisted on clarification – you cannot let a “no” answer like that pass unexamined when your client is being questioned in a colloquy.)  Nevertheless, the panel found no error in accepting the father’s stipulation.  The record showed that the stipulation had been drafted a month earlier. The father had that time to consult his attorney, and the content of the stipulation suggested that father had, in fact, consulted his attorney.  

Needless to say, this case presents an ocean of waving red flags.  Can an incompetent parent stipulate to unfitness?  If the parent has a GAL/next friend, shouldn’t the GAL/next friend be signing the stipulation and answering the colloquy (or be questioned under oath)?  How can a court infer a “knowing and voluntary” waiver from a parent who is incompetent and has a GAL/next friend, especially where it isn’t clear that the parent even understands whether he spoke to his attorney about the stipulation?  Here, the GAL/next friend didn’t testify; rather, she “represent[ed] in open court that the surrender stipulation was something the father was ‘doing freely and voluntarily today.’”  The panel held that this provided “sufficient assurance, notwithstanding the judge’s lapse, that the father’s rights were fully protected.”  Accordingly, Alexandra is the best case to cite for the proposition that an incompetent parent with a GAL can stipulate to termination; that the incompetent parent can be given a colloquy; and that the GAL can sign and orally approve a stipulation terminating an incompetent parent’s rights.

Father also argued on appeal that his stipulation should have been revoked because it was conditioned on the plan of adoption by the paternal grandmother, but that plan fell through.  The stipulation provided that the father “surrenders his rights as [the child’s] father . . . to free [the child] to be adopted by her paternal grandmother.”  It also provided that the father “stipulates to a surrender of his paternal rights as to [the child]” and “supports the adoption of [the child] by her paternal grandmother.”  While it did not expressly “condition” the surrender on adoption by his mother, it is difficult to read it any other way; this incompetent man clearly expected his mother to adopt the child in return for giving up his rights.  The fact that DCF agreed with this plan at the time of the stipulation and colloquy supports this; the agency only changed its mind after rights were terminated.  Nevertheless, the panel had a different interpretation:  
We take the father’s statements in the surrender stipulation at face value, and acknowledge that they indicate a concern for the child and a recognition of his own current inability to provide for her needs.  The surrender stipulation is not, however, conditioned on an order appointing the paternal grandmother as guardian or adoptive parent, no matter how desirable the father may view that outcome.  We therefore do not need to address whether our law, under which the paramount concern is the child’s best interests, would enforce such a condition.
Frankly, I find the panel’s acceptance of the father’s stipulation “at face value” baffling.  This father was incompetent and didn’t even remember if he spoke to his lawyer about the stipulation.  Even father’s attorney and GAL didn’t seem to grasp the nuances between “conditioning” his surrender, surrendering his rights “in order to free a child for adoption” by his mother, and surrendering his rights and “supporting” adoption by his mother.  How could this father grasp those nuances?  His intent was obvious:  he was surrendering the child so his mother could adopt, not with a hope she would adopt.

Regardless, the panel’s last sentence – expressing some doubt about the enforceability of a conditioned surrender – is important.  The panel’s final footnote suggests where it would come on out this question:  “We note however that the stipulation of parental unfitness is not rationally or causally related to the identity of the adoptive parent or guardian.”
The takeaway?  If your client wants to expressly condition a surrender on adoption or guardianship by his chosen resource, use clear language:  “Father agrees to the termination of his parental rights on the express condition that his mother adopt the child.  If, for any reason, Father’s mother does not adopt the child, or if the court is considering approving a plan where Father’s mother is not the designated adoption resource for the child, his surrender shall be vacated and his parental rights reinstated.”  Is such a condition enforceable?  Does it contravene any public policy?  Hard to say, but it’s worth a try.  As we’ve seen in Alexandra, language that is even remotely ambiguous regarding a parent’s intent won’t work. 
Excellent Rule 1:28 Decision about Evidence
16. Care and Protection of Patience, 83 Mass. App. Ct. 1104 (Mass. App. Ct. Rule 1:28), 2012-P-0481 (December 31, 2012), has lots of good language about evidence.  The hearsay exception “declaration against interest” rarely arises in our cases, and we have found no child welfare opinions that address it.  But Patience does:

The mother challenges the judge’s decision to admit her boyfriend’s electronic mail (e-mail) on grounds that it was a declaration against interest. The mother does not dispute that her boyfriend was not a party and was unavailable to testify as a witness. The contention that her boyfriend was unaware that his statements were contrary to his interest when made is belied by the evidence.  Any reasonable person would have understood that some of the statements would have exposed the maker to criminal liability. See Mass.G.Evid. § 804(3) (2012 ed.).
Nice stuff.  That’s the rule about declarations against interest in a nutshell.  The statement of a non-party (here, the boyfriend, who wasn’t the father) is admissible if:

· The declarant is unavailable (here, the boyfriend might have been out of state or he might have asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege not to testify about the abuse);

· The statement is against the declarant’s penal, pecuniary or proprietary interests (here, the boyfriend’s email admitted that he may have harmed the child); and

· The statement is based on first-hand knowledge (the boyfriend was there).

Note that the statement need not be an admission of guilt; it need only be a “disserving statement” that could be used at trial against the declarant. 
Patience also has nice language about how second-level hearsay in an admissible document is inadmissible unless that level also has a hearsay exception:
The mother also argues that a hearsay statement by her boyfriend’s psychologist which was part of that e-mail was improperly admitted.  The statement read: “The psychologist believes, in his professional opinion, that I have a moderate to high risk of endangering a child due to my disorder [OCD].  He said he does not find any malice in my actions . . . .” The judge admitted it as a statement against interest over the mother’s objection.  The fact that the e-mail contained second-level hearsay – the psychologist’s statement – was overlooked.  A judge in a care and protection proceeding may not rely on facts that are not properly admitted in evidence.  Care & Protection of Zita, 455 Mass. 272, 280 (2009).
In other words, the judge erred in admitting the second-level hearsay in the email.  But, in this case, the error was harmless because the evidence came in through other sources.
Last, the panel noted that court investigator reports should be limited to facts (a statutory limitation that is traditionally honored largely in the breach):
The mother also contends that the judge erred in disregarding the investigator’s report. However, the mother overlooks the scope of the statutory authority for the admission of such reports, which is confined to “the facts relating to the welfare of the child.”  G. L. c. 119, § 21A, inserted by St. 2008, c. 76, § 83.  Here, the judge properly disregarded most of the report because it was predominantly the product of opinions based on assessments of credibility and not a statement of facts.  See Care & Protection of Rebecca, 419 Mass. 67, 83 (1994).
You might want to cite to Patience if you are objecting to any opinions in a court investigator report, and not just “opinions based on assessments of credibility.”  Note that no witness can opine as to the credibility of another witness, whether live or in a document.  See Commonwealth v. Ianello, 401 Mass. 197, 202 (1987) (“expert may not render an opinion on the credibility of a witness”); Commonwealth v. Harbin, 435 Mass. 654, 663 (2002) (“witnesses may not offer their opinions on the credibility of other witnesses”).
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